1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2

3
4
5 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

6 Appellant,

7 v.

8 LACY THOMAS,

9 Respondent.

CASE NO:

Electronically Filed
Jun 08 2012 11:52 a.m.
Trish K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

10
11 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

12 **Appeal From Granting of Motion to Dismiss**
13 **Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

14 STEVEN B. WOLFSON
15 Clark County District Attorney
16 Nevada Bar #001565
17 Regional Justice Center
18 200 Lewis Avenue
19 Post Office Box 552212
20 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
21 (702) 671-2500
22 State of Nevada

23
24
25
26
27
28 CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO
Nevada Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 003926
100 North Carson Street

28		

Other Authorities

1 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 4113 27
2 Ala. Code 1975 § 13A-9-51 27
3 Alaska Stat. § 11.46.620 27
4 Haw. Rev. Stat. § 708-874 27
5 Ind. Code § 35-43-5-3(3) 27
6 N.D. Cent. Code § 12.1-23-07 27
7 N.J. Stat. Ann. § 2C:21-15 27
8 Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 449.314(5) 28
9 Or. Rev. Stat. § 165.095 28
10 UMC Bylaws, art. 3 § 1 28
11 Wis. Stat. Ann. § 946.12(3) 25
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2
3
4
5 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

CASE NO: 58833

6 Appellant,

7 v.

8 LACY THOMAS,

9 Respondent.

10 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

11 **Appeal From Granting of Motion to Dismiss**
12 **Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

13 **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE(S)**

- 14 1. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S DISMISSAL OF THE
15 INDICTMENT WAS PROPER GIVEN THE NATURE OF
16 RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENTS IN THE MOTION TO DISMISS
17 2. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE
18 INDICTMENT FAILED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT NOTICE OF THE
19 CHARGES AGAINST RESPONDENT
20 3. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE
21 THEFT AND OFFICIAL MISCONDUCT STATUTES WERE
22 UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AS APPLIED TO RESPONDENT'S
23 CASE

24 **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

25 On February 20, 2008, the State of Nevada charged Respondent Lacy
26 Thomas ("Thomas") by Grand Jury Indictment with: Counts 1-5 – Theft (Felony –
27 NRS 205.0832, 205.0835), and Counts 6-10 – Misconduct of a Public Officer
28 (Felony – NRS 197.110). Appellant's Appendix, vol. 3, 514-521.¹ On February 28,
2008, Thomas was arraigned and pled not guilty. Id. at 522. On March 22, 2010,
Thomas proceeded to trial. Id. at 523. On Day 10 of Thomas' trial, April 2, 2010,

1 Appellant's Appendix hereinafter "AA"

1 the district court declared a mistrial based on pre-trial discovery issues. Id. at 524-
2 588. On April 8, 2010, the district court reset the trial date to August 2, 2010. Id. at
3 589-596.

4 On February 11, 2011, Thomas filed three motions to dismiss, two of which
5 separately alleged that: (1) Trial on the Indictment would violate the Double
6 Jeopardy Clause because the State's failure to turn over discovery caused the April
7 2, 2010 mistrial; and (2) The Indictment should be dismissed because the State
8 failed to present the previously undisclosed discovery material to the grand jury.
9 Id. at 607-640. The third motion to dismiss, which is the subject of this appeal,
10 alleged the Indictment should be dismissed because: (1) It was unconstitutionally
11 multiplicitous and redundant in that Counts 1-5 alleging Theft were based on the
12 same conduct underlying Counts 6-10 alleging Official Misconduct; and (2) NRS
13 197.110(2) (Official Misconduct) ² and 205.0832(1)(b) (Theft),³ are void for
14 vagueness as applied to Thomas in the Indictment; Thomas alleged he lacked
15 notice that he was committing Theft or Official Misconduct by negotiating grossly
16 one-sided contracts with his friends and associates for which he knew no work
17 would be or was being performed. Id. at 507-606. The State filed its Opposition to
18 the motion on March 17, 2011, and Thomas filed a Reply Brief on March 28, 2011.
19 Id. at 646-668.

20 The district court heard argument on April 28, 2011, and issued a written
21 order on June 3, 2011, which entirely dismissed the Indictment. Id. at 672-735;
22 736-742. The Order held that NRS 205.0832 was vague as applied to Thomas in

23 _____
24 ² NRS 197.110(2) provides: "Every public officer who... (2) Employs or uses any
25 person, money or property under the public officer's official control or direction,
26 or in the public officer's official custody, for the private benefit or gain of the
27 public officer or another, is guilty of a category E felony..."

28 ³ NRS 205.0832(1)(b) provides: "...a person commits theft if, without lawful
authority, the person knowingly... Converts, makes an unauthorized transfer of an
interest in, or without authorization controls any property of another person, or
uses the services or property of another person entrusted to him or her or placed in
his or her possession for a limited, authorized period of determined or prescribed
duration or for a limited use."

1 the Indictment because it “merely put a person of ordinary intelligence on notice
2 that by entering into an ill-conceived contract they may at a later date be charged
3 with a crime.” Id. at 741. The district court asked rhetorically, “under what
4 circumstances will the government file criminal chargers [*sic*] for entering into an
5 ill-conceived contract?” Id. The order further opined that, “[t]he characterization of
6 the crimes charged in the Indictment does nothing more than put Thomas on notice
7 that he/UMC may have entered into an ill conceived contract and that by entering
8 into such a contract, his conduct is now deemed criminal in nature.” Id.⁴ The State
9 filed its timely Notice of Appeal and case statement on July 1, 2011. Id. at 743-
10 747. Thereafter, the State filed a Fast Track Statement on August 29, 2011.
11 Thomas filed a Response on September 19, 2011. The State filed a Reply on
12 October 3, 2011. Subsequently, this Court ordered full briefing on April 13, 2012.
13 The State’s Opening Brief follows:

14 **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

15 Respondent Lacy Thomas (“Thomas”) is the former, now terminated, Chief
16 Executive Officer (CEO) of University Medical Center (UMC). This case arises
17 out of contractual relationships Thomas negotiated on behalf of UMC with his
18 close friends and associates from Chicago, Ill. Thomas entered into several of
19 those contractual relationships with close friends who were his college fraternity
20 brothers from Chicago. AA, vol. 1, 86; 89. Thomas negotiated the first of these
21 contractual relationships with Frasier Systems, a purported consulting firm owned
22 by his close friend Greg Boone. AA, vol. 1, 96-100. Frasier Systems was
23 established five (5) days after Thomas assumed UMC’s CEO position; it had no
24 employees or a current business license, and was headquartered in Boone’s
25

26 ⁴ The district court expressly declined to resolve Thomas’ separate motions to
27 dismiss alleging a double jeopardy violation and failure to disclose exculpatory
28 evidence. The district court further appears to have declined to consider the portion
of Thomas’ motion alleging the Indictment contained redundant, multiplicitous
counts.

1 mother's garage. Id. at 96-98; 108. Thomas negotiated a consulting contract which
2 paid Frasier Systems \$50,400.00 in exchange for Boone to essentially regurgitating
3 in a brief PowerPoint presentation information he received from UMC's IT
4 Department. Id. at 99-101. Thomas then negotiated an additional \$286,700.00
5 contract with Frasier Systems for the creation of a project manager's office at
6 UMC, although UMC already had a project manager. Id. at 101-103. But for
7 forwarding to UMC a publicly available rudimentary example of a software
8 program, Boone and Frasier Systems never established a project management
9 office and otherwise performed no meaningful work, despite receiving the full
10 \$286,700.00. Id. at 103-107. Thomas later unsuccessfully attempted, in violation of
11 County policy, to have Frasier Systems awarded a \$900,000.00 contract without
12 first putting out a "request for proposals" (bids). AA, vol. 2, 378.

13 Thomas negotiated a third contractual relationship with Crystal
14 Communications, a company owned by his close friend and fraternity brother,
15 Martello Pollock. AA, vol. 1, 113-117. Crystal Communications had no employees
16 and was headquartered in a single Chicago office shared with four other
17 companies, including Premier Alliance Management which was owned by another
18 close personal friend of Thomas, Orlando Jones. Id. at 113-117. The first contract
19 paid Pollock \$24,500.00—\$500.00 below the threshold amount that would have
20 required County board approval—in exchange for Crystal Communications
21 providing consulting work on UMC's northeast tower project. AA, vol. 1, 113-116;
22 AA, vol. 2, 446. But for producing a four-page memo regurgitating verbatim facts
23 about UMC's telephone system relayed by UMC IT personnel, Pollock and Crystal
24 Communications never performed any meaningful work under the contract. AA,
25 vol.1, 115-116; AA, vol. 2, 470-476. Nevertheless, Thomas negotiated an even
26 larger subsequent contract in which Crystal Communications received \$145,550.00
27 in exchange for a promise to perform the work already promised in the prior
28 contract plus some additional consulting and training work. AA, vol. 1, 117-119.

1 Again, Pollock and Crystal Communications performed absolutely no meaningful
2 work, and, when interviewed by detectives, Thomas lied about receiving their
3 nonexistent work product. Id. at 119-120. In awarding this contract to Pollock’s
4 company, Thomas ignored a drastically lower bid from a highly-qualified local
5 contractor and failed to comply with County contracting procedures. Id. at 122-
6 123. Finally, Thomas also negotiated and paid \$5,100.00 to Orlando Jones for
7 purported consulting work consisting of the same four-page memo referenced
8 above. Id. at 129-130.

9 Thomas also established a contractual relationship with TBL Construction
10 (TBL), a local company owned by Alonzo Barber, who had no prior experience in
11 hospital construction work. Id. at 130-132. Thomas engaged TBL as a contractor to
12 “supervise” utility installation at the northeast tower and landscaping, which was
13 identical to work already being performed by a different contractor under an
14 existing contract. Id. at 130-132. Thomas avoided scrutiny of the contract by
15 paying TBL \$35,000.00 under an unauthorized change order added to an existing
16 contract. Id. at 133-134; AA, vol. 2, 410-411.

17 Thomas negotiated a fifth contractual relationship with Superior Consulting,
18 a Chicago-based company in which Thomas’s good friend, Bob Mills, was a
19 principal owner; Superior Consultants was later acquired by Affiliated Computer
20 Services (ACS). AA, vol. 1, 87-88. Thomas negotiated a contract in which
21 Superior/ACS would perform revenue (debt) collection activities already being
22 performed by UMC, which actually resulted in a \$6 million reduction of UMC
23 collection totals in the contract’s first year. AA, vol. 2, 456-457. Additionally,
24 when ACS was not making sufficient collections to profit on the contract, Thomas,
25 unilaterally without County authorization, executed an “administrative
26 clarification,” which caused ACS’s collection totals to be artificially inflated by an
27 additional \$48.9 million dollars; this additional revenue consisted of social service
28 reimbursements already being received by UMC and requiring no collection effort.

1 AA, vol. 1, 17-18, 25-36; AA, vol. 2, 392-393. That “clarification,” which would
2 have yielded ACS a \$6.8 million windfall for continuing to do the same ineffective
3 job, was rejected when properly put before the County board. AA, vol. 1, 143.
4 Thomas nevertheless succeeded in negotiating two additional modifications solely
5 for the purpose of enriching ACS by lowering the baseline for it to collect a 25%
6 commission on the collections and ensuring ACS a \$25,000.00 flat payment each
7 month (including retroactively for pre-modification months), despite ACS’s eight
8 consecutive months of substandard collections. AA, vol. 1, 141-142; AA, vol. 2,
9 474-476. Thomas’s only rationale for these modifications was he wanted ACS to
10 make more money for performing its pre-existing contractual obligations. AA, vol.
11 1, 141-142. Finally, Thomas arranged for ACS to receive a \$1 million commission
12 merely for recommending that UMC sell some of its “bad debt” to a debt
13 collection agency. Id. at 146-153. ACS had no contractual right to such a
14 commission but received it based on Thomas’s authorization. AA, vol. 2, 469-472.

15 ARGUMENT

16 I

17 **THE DISTRICT COURT’S DISMISSAL OF THE INDICTMENT** 18 **WAS IMPROPER BASED ON THE ARGUMENTS** 19 **IN THE MOTION TO DISMISS**

20 In a decision filed on June 3, 2011, the district court dismissed counts 1-10
21 of the Indictment against Respondent Lacy Thomas (“Thomas”) based on a Motion
22 to Dismiss filed by Thomas on February 11, 2011. AA, vol. 3, 597. The relevant
23 Motion to Dismiss was one of three motions filed on February 11, 2011. Id. The
24 Motion to Dismiss at issue in the instant appeal challenged the constitutionality of
25 the Theft and Official Misconduct statutes and whether the Indictment provided
26 sufficient notice of the charges. Id. at 597-605. This Court reviews a district court’s
27 decision to grant or deny a Motion to Dismiss for an abuse of discretion. Hill v.
28 State, 124 Nev. 546, 188 P.3d 51, 54 (2008). In this case, the district court abused
its discretion in granting the remedy of dismissal of the Indictment.

1 In the order granting full briefing, this Court asked the State to address
2 whether Thomas' Motion to Dismiss challenged sufficiency of the evidence to
3 sustain the Indictment or whether it challenged the district court's jurisdiction to
4 try the case; whether the motion should have been construed as a pretrial Petition
5 for Writ of Habeas Corpus; and whether the district court was precluded from
6 adjudicating the motion/petition. It is the State's position that the Motion to
7 Dismiss, when read in combination with the district court's Decision Granting
8 Dismissal and arguments made by defense counsel at the hearing on the Motion to
9 Dismiss, argued that the State failed to put Thomas on sufficient notice about the
10 theory the State was proceeding on that made the actions of Thomas criminal in
11 nature. As discussed infra section II, however, Thomas was clearly put on notice of
12 the State's theory. However, the Motion to Dismiss and the Decision of the Motion
13 to Dismiss convoluted several areas of law. It is therefore unclear exactly how the
14 Motion to Dismiss should be interpreted or on what basis the district court granted
15 the Motion. As more fully discussed below, it is the State's position that the
16 Motion to Dismiss could be interpreted as a challenge to the sufficiency of the
17 evidence, but that the Motion is not a challenge to the district court's jurisdiction.

18 1. The Motion to Dismiss Challenged Sufficiency of the Evidence

19 There are several indicators in Thomas' Motion to Dismiss, defense
20 counsel's arguments at the hearing on the Motion and the district court's decision
21 on the Motion where it appears that Thomas was challenging the sufficiency of the
22 evidence to support the Theft and Official Misconduct charges.

23 When discussing why the theft charges of the Indictment should be
24 dismissed, Thomas specifically stated in the Motion that "The language of the
25 Theft statute must mean *under the facts of this case*, that bad decisions become
26 crimes when there is a specific limitation placed on property entrusted to a person
27 and that specific limit is violated. There are no allegations at all that this is what
28 happened. In fact, there was *substantial evidence adduced* that the county

1 authorized all of the transactions at issue in this case.” AA, vol. 3, 603.
2 Additionally, when discussing why the official misconduct charges should be
3 dismissed, Thomas stated in the Motion, “The State has already advised the court
4 that it will not prove that Mr. Thomas received any kickbacks or inappropriate
5 remuneration for the contracts. The State has already advised the court that the
6 benefit received by the recipients was the benefit provided under the contract. The
7 State has already advised the court that it is not required to prove that the county
8 was harmed in any way.” Id. In essence, Thomas argued that the district court
9 should grant his Motion to Dismiss the theft charges because all of the contracts at
10 issue in this case were authorized by the County and there was therefore
11 insufficient evidence that he misused property entrusted to him. Thomas also
12 argued that the official misconduct charges should be dismissed because the State
13 failed to provide sufficient evidence that Thomas’s received any type of kickback
14 or the hospital was harmed.

15 This sufficiency type argument was further emphasized by defense counsel
16 during the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss. At multiple times during his
17 argument, defense counsel encouraged the district court to focus on the evidence
18 elicited at the partial trial in order to determine whether there was sufficient
19 evidence to continue the proceedings. Defense counsel was essentially requesting
20 that the judge enter a directed verdict on a trial that had never been completed. For
21 example, when arguing why the Indictment should be dismissed counsel stated:

22 For instance, if—well, let me back up. We had testimony
23 at trial from Tom Riley and others that it’s not unusual at
24 all to have consultants, and we talked about whether the
25 consultants provide any value is in the eye of the
26 beholder and that it’s not unusual to have consultants that
27 you’ve worked with before or people that you have a
28 relationship with. And so we have all sorts of testimony
that those acts aren’t on their face illegal. And so we
know that there are acts that will cross the line, but the
facts of this case, there aren’t any of those facts. They
don’t fit into that because we have a man who is entering
into contracts with ACS or the consultants. These are
people that have knowledge in the field. These are

1 contracts that are vetted. They go through the procedure
2 of the county. The county approves them. The county
3 then approves the pay of these contracts after the work's
4 performed and the invoice is submitted. Where does the
5 crime occur?

6 Id. at 710. Defense counsel continued later in his argument and stated:

7 Well, Judge, the testimony was clear. The minute that
8 this contract provision to the ACS contract that was at
9 issue to change the baseline and to change a couple of the
10 terms was brought to Mr. Thomas's attention that this
11 isn't how this works, we got to go back to the board,
12 that's what happened. And so the Court's absolutely
13 right. This went through levels of scrutinization and
14 levels of approval just by the very nature such---and
15 that's why they're there so somebody like Mr. Thomas so
16 somebody in his position can't do the things that the
17 State's claiming that ain't going to be able to prove he
18 did or that he had the criminal intent to somehow alter
19 these to the detriment of the county and the benefit of his
20 friends.

21 Id. at 719. Counsel continued on to discuss how Thomas did not receive a
22 kickback, so the State would not be able to prove Thomas committed these crimes.

23 Id. at 720. Defense counsel's argument could easily be interpreted as challenging
24 not only the evidence presented during the partial trial but, considering that the
25 evidence given at the trial was a more fully expanded version of the evidence given
26 at the grand jury, the argument could be seen as challenging the evidence presented
27 at the grand jury. Defense counsel is arguing that the State failed to prove that
28 Thomas had the criminal intent for Theft or Official Misconduct because all of his
contracts were approved by the county board of commissioners.

There is also language in the district court's decision on the Motion to
Dismiss that indicate that the court was at least in part granting the Motion because
the State failed to provide sufficient evidence of the charges. For example, the
district court noted:

Throughout the pleadings and arguments during the
various motions in this matter and based upon the Grand
Jury testimony, the State concedes that Thomas has not
personally received any private benefit from the contracts
in question. Further, they concede that each original
contract had to go through a vetting process by Thomas,
various staff members at UMC, a Clark County District

1 Attorney, and Clark County staff before receiving
2 ultimate approval by the Clark County Commissioners.
3 Also, all invoices submitted by the entities identified in
4 Counts I-V were paid by the county and not by Thomas.
5 The gravamen of the charges against Thomas is that he
6 entered into contracts that were unnecessary, overly
7 favorable to the vendors and/or work required under the
8 contracts was not performed. If in fact the contracts were
9 unnecessary, overly favorable to vendors, unperformed
10 and as alleged amounting to theft one would wonder why
11 the vendors/their principals were not charged with theft
12 as co-conspirators.

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