IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Electronically Filed Aug 08 2012 03:12 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 58833

vs.

LACY THOMAS,

Respondents.

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

DANIEL J. ALBREGTS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 004435
DANIEL J. ALBREGTS, LTD.
601 S. Tenth Street, Suite 202
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
albregts@hotmail.com

FRANNY A. FORSMAN Nevada Bar No. 000014 P.O. Box 43401 Las Vegas, Nevada 89116 f.forsman@cox.net

Counsel for Respondent

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney STEVEN S. OWENS Chief Deputy District Attorney 200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 Steven.Wolfson@ccdanv.com

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

ARGUMENT

This is not the way criminal law is supposed to work. Civil law often covers conduct that falls in a gray area of arguable legality. But criminal law should clearly separate conduct that is criminal from conduct that is legal. This is not only because of the dire consequences of a conviction–including disenfranchisement, incarceration and even deportation–but also because criminal law represents the community's sense of the type of behavior that merits the moral condemnation of society....When prosecutors have to stretch the law or the evidence to secure a conviction, as they did here, it can hardly be said that such moral judgment is warranted. Kozinski, J., concurring in <u>United States v. Goyal</u>, 629 F.3d 912, 922 (9th Cir. 2010).

A. <u>Summary of Argument</u>

Vagueness may invalidate a criminal law for either of two independent reasons, [citation omitted]: (1) if it "fails to provide a

person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what is prohibited; or (2) if it "is so standardless that it authorizes or encourages seriously discriminatory enforcement.

State v. Castaneda, 245 P.3d 550, 553 (Nev. 2010).

[The] law must, at a minimum, delineate the boundaries of unlawful conduct. Some specific conduct must be deemed unlawful so individuals will know what is permissible behavior and what is not. [citation omitted].

<u>Id.</u>

Before invalidating a statute based on vagueness, under the doctrine of constitutional avoidance, this court should attempt to construe the statute first. The court may look to sources outside the statute in order to determine whether fair notice of the boundaries of the prohibited conduct can be ascertained and whether the standards are sufficient to avoid discriminatory enforcement. Id.

The Misconduct statute contains no standards at all and is unconstitutionally vague. If it is construed to avoid that result, the conduct alleged in the Indictment does not constitute a crime under the statute. The provisions of the Theft statute are vague as applied to the conduct alleged in the Indictment. If the statute is construed to avoid the constitutional defect, the conduct alleged in the Indictment is not a crime.

The Statutes

NRS 197.110, Misconduct of public officer, provides in pertinent part:

Every public officer who:

...

2. Employs or uses any person, money or property under the public officer's official control or direction, or in the public officer's official custody, for the private benefit or gain of the public officer or another is guilty of a category E felony....

NRS 205.0832, Theft, provides in pertinent part:

A person commits theft, if, without lawful authority, the person knowingly:

...

(b) Converts, makes an unauthorized transfer of an interest in, or without authorization controls any property of another person, or uses the services or property of another person entrusted to him or placed in his or her possession for a limited, authorized period or determined or prescribed duration or for a limited use.

The trial court carefully reviewed the Indictment, the applicable statutes and case law and determined that the statutes could not constitutionally encompass the conduct alleged in the Indictment. The court properly exercised its role and the decision should be affirmed.

B. Applicable Standards of Review

P.3d 1226, 1228 (Nev. 2011); a district court's grant or denial of a Motion to dismiss the Indictment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Hill v. State, 188 P.3d 51 (Nev. 2008); a determination of the constitutionality of a statute is reviewed *de novo*. State v. Casteneda, Supra at 553; failure to object generally precludes appellate review unless the error is plain and the substantial rights of the defendant

[at least when it is the defendant who is raising the issue for the first time on appeal] have been affected. Gallego v. State, 23 P.3d 227, 239 (Nev. 2001).

C. The Motion to Dismiss Was Not a Challenge to the Sufficiency of the Evidence to Sustain the Indictment; it Was a Motion to Dismiss Asserting That the Acts Alleged in the Indictment Were Not Crimes

This court has requested that the parties specifically address whether the Motion to Dismiss should have been treated by the trial court as a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging probable cause for the indictment and then dismissed as untimely. The State argues that the district court must have decided the case based on its review of the evidence presented to the Grand Jury and in the first trial. Further, relying on federal law, which differs from Nevada law, the State argues that even if the Motion was based on an assertion that the indictment failed to state a crime, that is not a challenge to the jurisdiction of the court.

The State Failed to Raise this Issue Below

The trial court has not ruled on this issue because it has been presented for the first time on appeal. Accordingly, it is either waived or subject to plain error review. This court will only review an unpreserved error if it is "plain" (clear under current law) and, if raised on appeal by the defendant, it was prejudicial (affected the substantial rights of the defendant). Gallego v. State, 23 P.3d 227,

 $239(2001)^2$.

The pleading which contained the Motion to Dismiss titled the subject as follows: Motion to Dismiss-Failure to State a Crime/Vagueness of the Statute.

AA, p. 600. The argument on the Motion concluded as follows:

The conduct which has been alleged simply is not a crime under either statute. If the court disagrees and determines that the statute has been violated, there is no question that that construction of the statute must result in a finding that the statute is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. In either event, the charges must be dismissed.

AA, p. 605.

The State's Opposition failed to address the constitutional issue in any respect and did not argue that there was sufficient evidence to support the charge.

AA, p.641-652. Nor did the State argue that the Motion should be treated as an untimely Writ of Habeas Corpus. There was no error and it certainly was not plain. The State has not shown any prejudice, in any event.

The District Court Determined that the Indictment Failed to State A Crime

The trial court concluded that,

The Indictment, if allowed to stand, would be tantamount to this Court sanctioning the proposition that if UMC and/or Clark County entered into an ill-conceived contract that may be more beneficial to a vendor as opposed to itself that Thomas' conduct is criminal in

²No cases applying the plain error standard of review to the State could be found.

nature. This Court does not accept this proposition. AA, p. 741.

The Decision on Motion to Dismiss does blur the doctrines of constitutional avoidance, void-for-vagueness and failure to state a crime but there is no question that the District Court was deciding the Motion that was presented and that the court determined that the indictment failed to state a crime as it construed the Nevada statutes.³

When a Crime Has Not Been Charged, the Issue May Be Raised at Any Time

The Motion to Dismiss was akin to a Motion to Quash or a Demurrer. NRS 174.075(2) abolished those remedies but provided that the relief should be sought by Motion to Dismiss. While NRS 34.500 allows the court to determine that a statute is unconstitutional "on the return of the writ of habeas corpus," NRS 172.155 provides that it is only an objection to the "sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the indictment" which must be raised by a writ of habeas corpus. The time limit for filing under NRS 34.700 is applicable only to a writ of habeas corpus. NRS 34.710. Finally, "Lack of jurisdiction or the failure of the indictment,

³The court, in commenting that Clark County chose not to seek civil remedies against any of the vendors and that one of the vendors named in the indictment successfully sued Clark County for damages on its contract, was careful to note that these facts were not considered in rendering the decision further demonstrating that the court confined itself to determining, as a matter of law, whether a crime had been set forth.

information or complaint to charge an offense shall be noticed by the court at any time during the pendency of the preceding." NRS 174.105(3). All of these statutes were enacted or amended in 1967, evidencing the legislature's intent that challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain an indictment must be made by a timely-filed writ of habeas corpus. A motion asserting that a crime has not been charged may be made at any time.

Further, Nevada law is clear that the failure to charge a crime is jurisdictional. Houser v. District Court, 345 P.2d 766 (1959); Smith v. District Court, 347 P. 2d 52 (1959). A trial court's lack of jurisdiction can be raised at any time, even for the first time on appeal. Colwell v. State, 59 P.3d 463 (2003). This could be the only just rule.

D. State Supreme Courts Find Official Misconduct Statutes
Unconstitutionally Vague When Specific Conduct Is Not Set
Forth in the Statute

The State's Opening Brief asserts to this court that "numerous" courts have "uniformly found [official misconduct] statutes not unconstitutionally vague."

Opening Brief, p. 24. In fact, at least three state Supreme Courts have determined that their official misconduct statutes were void, not as applied, but simply void as unconstitutionally vague. The language of the invalidated statutes was significantly more explicit and definite as to the prohibited conduct than the

language in Nevada's statute.

Colorado

The Statute

CRS 18-8-405 provides that a public official is guilty of official misconduct if he "knowingly, arbitrarily and capriciously": a) "refrains from performing a duty imposed by law or clearly inherent in the nature of his office; b) violates any statute or lawfully adopted rule or regulation relating to his office."

The Holding

The Supreme Court of Colorado found that the first phrase (refrains from performing a duty imposed by law) constitutional because it refers to the "omission to perform a duty prescribed by [statute, administrative regulation, or judicial pronouncement defining mandatory duties]." The second phrase (clearly inherent in the nature of the office) however, was determined to be void because,

it provides no readily ascertainable standards by which one's conduct may be measured. The legislature has failed to define that phrase and it is totally without parameters for the determination of guilt or innocence, thus allowing the exercise of unbridled discretion by the police, judge, and jury.

People v. Beruman, 638 P.2d 789, 793 (Colo. 1982).

The court proceeded to examine the indictment and determined that the indictment was deficient because it failed to apprise the defendant of the source (statute, rule) of the duty which is alleged to have been violated and the conviction

was reversed.

Kansas

The Statute

K.S.A. 21-2302 provided that a public official who "willfully and maliciously commit[s] an act of oppression, partiality, misconduct or abuse of authority.." is guilty of official misconduct.

The Holding

The Kansas Supreme Court determined that because "there is a complete absence of any link with recognized behavioral standards" in the statute, "on its face [it] is susceptible to arbitrary and discriminating interpretation and application by those charged with responsibility for enforcing it." The court further found that,

"misconduct" as a standard of conduct is "so vague that persons of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning an differ as to its application." [citations omitted]...Nor are we persuaded by the State's argument that the words "oppression," "partiality," "misconduct," or "abuse of authority" are commonly understood and therefore not vague...The terms are not adjectives which modify, limit or quantify the act or conduct prohibited. Instead, each of these terms constitutes conduct which is prohibited. Nor are they terms which have been considered and defined by numerous appellate court decisions. We find such unlimiting terms necessarily require persons of ordinary intelligence to guess at what acts constitute "official misconduct" and differ as to their application.

State v. Adams, 866 P.2d 1017, 1023 (Kan. 1994).

The court affirmed the district court's ruling that the language in the statute was too indefinite to serve as a warning and affirmed the dismissal of the charge. Florida

Florida has examined its official misconduct statute on two occasions and invalidated two sections of the statute as unconstitutionally vague.

The Statute

Fla. Stat. 839.25 provides that a public servant commits Official Misconduct when, with "corrupt intent to obtain a benefit for himself or another or to cause unlawful harm to another," commits the following acts: "(a) knowingly refraining, or causing another to refrain from performing a duty imposed upon him by law...

(c) knowingly violating, or causing another to violate, any statute or lawfully adopted regulation or rule relating to his office."

The Holdings

In <u>State v. DeLeo</u>, 356 So. 2d 306, 307 (Fl. 1978), the Florida Supreme Court addressed a void-for-vagueness challenge to sec.(c) and held that even though "corrupt intent" requires that the act be "done with knowledge that the act is wrongful and with improper motive," "[t]his standard is too vague to give men

⁴The entire statute was subsequently repealed so the language of the statute is drawn from the cases which address the sections.

of common intelligence sufficient warning of what is corrupt and outlawed, therefore by statute." The court went further, though, and held,

While some discretion is inherent in prosecutorial decision-making, it cannot be without bounds. The crime defined by the statute, knowing violations of any statute, rule or regulations for an improper motive, is simply too open-ended to limit prosecutorial discretion in any reasonable way. The statute could be used, at best, to prosecute, as a crime, the most insignificant of transgressions or, at worst, to misuse judicial process for political purposes. We find it susceptible to arbitrary application because of its "catch-all" nature.

Id. at 308.

In <u>State v. Jenkins</u>, 469 So.2d 733 (Fl. 1985) the Florida Supreme Court held that section (a) of the statute suffered from the "same vulnerability to arbitrary application" as had previously been determined to apply to section (c) and affirmed the dismissal of official misconduct charges.⁵

E. The State Court Decisions Cited by the State Are "As Applied"

Cases and Are Inapplicable Due to the Differences in the

Statutes and the Conduct at Issue

While decisions which apply vagueness jurisprudence to terms of a statute are helpful in resolving the issue presented here, cases which merely apply a statute which is different from NRS 197.110 to conduct which is different from the

⁵Concurring Justice Overton suggested that the legislature revisit the statute and limit its application to "statutorily- or constitutionally-defined duties of the particular offices."

conduct alleged in this case, are not very instructive.⁶ The cases cited by the State in the Opening Brief are summarized below:

STATE	STATUTE	CASE CITED BY STATE/ CONDUCT AT ISSUE	HOLDING & OTHER CASES
Oregon	ORS 162.415- "with intent to obtain a benefit or harm another" knowingly fails to perform a duty imposed by law or an act constituting an unauthorized exercise of official duties.	State v. Florea, 677 P.2d 698 (Or. 1984) Conduct at issue: Sheriff took seized weapons for his own use. State v. Wood, 678 P.2d 1238 (Or. App. 1984) Conduct at issue: County Comm. intentionally withheld information about value of land, causing the county to lose money on transaction.	Held: Court determined that there was no issue that the conduct was unauthorized and therefore statute was not vague as applied. Held: conduct harming county was a known violation of duty and couldn't have been negligent or merely unwise. "Negligent performance of an official function" is best regulated by civil service procedures and election alternatives."

⁶The cases from Illinois and Delaware actually affirm dismissals of the indictments based on the failure to state a crime and support Respondent's position as that is what the lower court did here.

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